IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MONTY FLETCHER

APPELLANT

V.

Case #2007-CA-01247

LIMECO CORPORATION

APPELLEE

Consolidated with

R. W. WHITAKER

APPELLANT

V.

Case #2007-CA-01249

LIMECO CORPORATION AND WILLIAM KIDD

APPELLEE

T-REX 2000, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

Case #2007-CA-01262

BRETT KIDD AND JAMIE KIDD

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Michael N. Watts, Esq.

R. Bradley Best, Esq.

Holcomb Dunbar, PA 1217 Jackson Avenue Post Office Drawer 707 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 (662) 234-8775 - Telephone (662) 238-7552 - Facsimile

Of counsel pro hac vice:

Julie Murphy Burnstein

Peter C. Sales

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err in holding that the process issued to the Defendant Limeco Corporation did not substantially comply with Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(b) where the summons contained the essential elements of a summons established by Rule 4?
- 2. Did the trial courts err in holding that the Defendants Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd, William Kidd, and Limeco Corporation did not waive their defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process where the Defendants served answers to the Complaints and failed to assert any affirmative defense based on insufficiency of process or insufficiency of service of process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

This consolidated appeal arises from three cases filed in the Lee County Circuit Court. In each of the three cases, the Defendants served Answers without asserting any defense based on insufficiency of process or insufficiency of service of process. After Default Judgments were entered, the Defendants relied on the served Answers to have the Default Judgments set aside. After the Default Judgments were set aside, almost three years after receiving the Complaints and serving their Answers, the Defendants filed second Answers asserting for the first time defenses based on insufficiency of process and service of process. Each of the three cases was dismissed by the respective trial court finding that process on the Defendants was insufficient, that service of process was insufficient and that process was not perfected within 120 days of the filing of the Complaint. (Fletcher R. 303-304; Whitaker R. 395-396; T-REX R. 295)¹ The trial

¹ Because this appeal consolidates the appeals in <u>T-REX 2000</u>, <u>Inc. v. Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd</u>, <u>Monty Fletcher v. Limeco Corporation</u> and <u>R.W. Whitaker v. Limeco Corporation</u>, the references to the record are preceded by reference to the appropriate case.

courts also found that the Defendants did not waive their defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process. <u>Id.</u> This appeal followed.

2. The course of the proceedings and disposition of the courts below.

This appeal arises from three cases filed in the Lee County Circuit Court. In the first lawsuit, the Plaintiff T-REX 2000, Inc. ("T-REX") filed suit against Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd (the "T-REX case") on December 11, 2003. (T-REX R. 3) In the T-REX case, the Plaintiff, T-REX alleged that the Defendants Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd breached a Stock Purchase Agreement. (T-REX R. 3-4) T-REX sought \$1,100,000.00 in damages. (T-REX R. 3) In the second lawsuit, also filed on December 11, 2003, R.W. Whitaker ("Mr. Whitaker") filed a complaint against Limeco Corporation ("Limeco") and William Kidd² alleging that Limeco and William Kidd failed to pay a \$375,000.00 promissory note (the "Whitaker case"). (Whitaker R. 3-6) In the third lawsuit filed on December 11, 2003, Monty Fletcher ("Mr. Fletcher")³ filed a Complaint against Limeco alleging that Limeco breached another \$375,000.00 promissory note (the "Fletcher case"). (Fletcher R. 3-4) The T-REX case was assigned to Lee County Circuit Judge Paul S. Funderburk. (T-REX R. 12) The Whitaker and Fletcher cases were assigned to then Lee County Circuit Judge Sharion R. Aycock. (Fletcher R. 13; Whitaker R. 23)

The Plaintiffs in each of the three cases, represented by their former counsel, attempted to obtain service on the Defendants. In <u>T-REX</u>, the Plaintiffs served William Kidd, the father of Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd, with two Summonses, issued to Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd, respectively, and the Complaint. (T-REX R. 15, 23-25) The <u>Whitaker</u> and <u>Fletcher</u> Complaints were served on William Kidd as managing director of Limeco. (Fletcher R. 24, 25 ¶ 3; Whitaker

² Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd, William Kidd and Limeco are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Defendants."

³ T-REX, Mr. Fletcher and Mr. Whitaker are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Plaintiffs."

R. 45, 46 ¶ 3) In all three cases, the Summonses were hand delivered to William Kidd on January 23, 2004 at William and Brett Kidd's residence. (Fletcher R. 25 ¶ 3; T-REX 46 ¶ 2; Fletcher R. 46 ¶ 3) The Summonses issued to the Defendants and served on William Kidd stated "[y]ou are not required to file an answer or other pleading but you may do so if you desire." (Fletcher R. 24; T-REX R. 23-24; Whitaker R. 45)

On February 20, 2004, twenty-eight days after the date of service, William Kidd, on behalf of himself, Limeco, Jamie Kidd and Brett Kidd, hand delivered and mailed to the Plaintiffs' former counsel answers to the Complaints filed in all three cases. (Fletcher R. 26 ¶ 5; T-REX R. 26 ¶ 5; Whitaker R. 46 ¶ 5) None of the three served Answers asserted insufficiency of process or service of process as defenses. (Fletcher R. 28-29; T-REX R. 28-29; Whitaker R. 49-50)

On March 24, 2004, the Plaintiffs in all three cases moved for Default Judgment pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 55. (Fletcher R. 9; T-REX R. 8; Whitaker R. 19) The Plaintiffs' former counsel provided no notice of the Motion for Default Judgment to the Defendants and testified via affidavit that no answer had been filed or served. (Fletcher R. 10, 11 ¶ 4; T-REX R. 8, 9 ¶ 4; Whitaker R. 19, 20 ¶ 4) Default judgments subsequently were entered in each of the three cases. (Fletcher R. 12; T-REX R. 11; Whitaker R. 22)

Inexplicably, for more than two years after entry of the Default Judgments, the Defendants took no action in the case. In the intervening years, the Defendants took no steps to object to process or service of process. On August 31, 2006, new counsel retained by T-REX, Mr. Whitaker and Mr. Fletcher filed Notices to Enroll Foreign Judgments in the Franklin

⁴ This language is contained in Summons Form 1D typically used in Rule 81 matters.

County, Alabama Circuit Court seeking to enforce the Default Judgments. (Fletcher R. 40; T-REX R. 40; Whitaker R. 61)

Upon receipt of the Notice to Enroll Foreign Judgment, Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd, William Kidd, and Limeco filed Motions to Set Aside the Default Judgments and for other relief on September 20, 2006. (Fletcher R. 14; T-REX R. 13; Whitaker R. 24) In seeking to set aside the Default Judgments, all the Defendants asserted the Default Judgments were improper because the Defendants had served Answers. (Fletcher R. 16; T-REX R. 15; Whitaker R. 26) In recognition that the Default Judgments were entered in error, the Plaintiffs agreed to set aside the Default Judgments. The parties submitted Agreed Orders to the respective trial courts in each of the cases stating that the Default Judgments would be set aside and that the Defendants would file "responsive pleadings" within thirty days of the entry of the orders. (Fletcher R. 55; T-REX R. 52; Whitaker R. 76) The Agreed Order was entered on October 30, 2006 in the Fletcher and Whitaker cases, and on October 31, 2006 in the T-REX case.

The Defendants filed their second Answers to the Complaints in the <u>T-REX</u>, <u>Whitaker</u> and <u>Fletcher</u> cases on December 11, 2006. (Fletcher R. 59; T-REX R. 56, 60; Whitaker R. 80, 86) These second Answers, filed almost three years after the Defendants received the Complaints and served their original Answers, raised insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process as defenses for the first time. (Fletcher R. 59; T-REX R. 56, 60; Whitaker R. 80, 86) On December 15, 2006, the Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss for Lack of Service of Process. (Fletcher R. 63; T-REX R. 66; Whitaker R. 93) The Plaintiffs opposed the Motion to Dismiss in each case. (Fletcher R. 161; T-REX R. 167; Whitaker R. 215)

By order dated April 30, 2007, Judge Funderburk dismissed the <u>T-REX</u> case without prejudice finding that process and service of process were insufficient and service had not been accomplished within 120 days of the filing of the Complaint as required by Mississippi Rule of

Civil Procedure 4(h). (T-REX R. 295) Judge Funderburk further found the Defendants had not waived their 12(h) affirmative defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process. (T-REX R. 295) On May 3, 2007, Judge Aycock dismissed the Whitaker and Fletcher cases without prejudice, making the same findings. (Fletcher R. 303; Whitaker R. 395)

The Plaintiffs filed timely Motions to Alter or Amend the Judgment. (Fletcher R. 305; T-REX 315; Whitaker 397) Both Judge Aycock and Judge Funderburk denied the Motions to Alter or Amend the Judgment. (Fletcher R. 365; T-REX R. 376; Whitaker R. 458) The Plaintiffs filed timely notices of appeal in each of the three cases. (Fletcher R. 366; T-REX R. 377; Whitaker R. 459)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As noted, the Plaintiffs filed Complaints in the <u>T-REX</u>, <u>Whitaker</u> and <u>Fletcher</u> cases in December, 2003. (Fletcher R. 3; T-REX R. 3; Whitaker R. 3) Former counsel for Plaintiffs issued Summonses to the Defendants. The Summonses stated "[y]ou are not required to file an answer or other pleading but you may do so if you desire." (Fletcher R. 24-25; T-REX R. 23-24; Whitaker R. 45) In the <u>T-REX</u> case, T-REX's counsel served the Summonses issued to the Defendants Jamie Kidd and Brett Kidd on their father, William Kidd, at Brett Kidd's usual place of abode. (T-REX R. 23-24, 25 ¶3, 105 ¶3) In the <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases, the Summonses were served on William Kidd as the managing director of Limeco. (Fletcher R. 24, 25 ¶ 3; Whitaker R. 45, 46 ¶3)

On February 20, 2004, William Kidd served Answers to the Complaints filed in each of the three cases via mail and hand-delivery to the Plaintiffs' former counsel. (Fletcher R. 26 ¶ 5; T-REX R. 26 ¶ 5; Whitaker R. 47 ¶ 5) Brett Kidd personally read the answer served on his behalf in the T-REX case. (T-REX R. 46 ¶ 4) In fact, William Kidd served the Answers with

Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd's authorization. (T-REX Plaintiffs' Exh. 1, pp. 48-49, 54) The Answers were not filed in the clerk's office.

The Answer served in the <u>T-REX</u> case was titled "Answer" and contained the denial of each of the factual allegations by paragraph. (T-REX R. 28) The <u>T-REX</u> Answer stated "the Defendants jointly and separately deny the validity and overall substance of Plaintiff's claims and ask for a complete dismissal of this Summons and Complaint." (T-REX R. 29) Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd signed the <u>T-REX</u> Answer. (T-REX R. 29) Notably, the <u>T-REX</u> Answer did not state that Brett Kidd or Jamie Kidd had any objection to process or service of process. (T-REX R. 28-29) Brett Kidd knew the <u>T-REX</u> case had been filed; had read the Complaint; had read and signed the Answer; and knew that his father had prepared and served an Answer. (T-REX R. 46) In filing the Answer on their behalf, William Kidd believed he had "done everything [he] needed to do to preserve the rights of Brett Kidd and Jamie Kidd." (T-REX R. 26 § 6)

In the Whitaker case, William Kidd served the Answer on behalf of himself and Limeco. (Whitaker R. 49-50) William Kidd served the Answer on former counsel for Mr. Whitaker on February 20, 2004 by hand delivery and by mail. (Whitaker R. 47 ¶ 5) The Answer prepared and served by William Kidd responded by paragraph to the allegations of the Complaint and stated whether the Defendants admitted or denied each of the allegations. (Whitaker R. 49-50) At the conclusion of the Answer, the Defendants stated that they "jointly and separately deny validity and overall substance of Plaintiff's claim and ask for a complete dismissal of the Summons and Complaint." (Whitaker R. 50) Nowhere in the Whitaker Answer did Limeco or William Kidd assert any objection to process or service of process. (Whitaker R. 49-50) William Kidd signed the Answer on behalf of himself and Limeco. (Whitaker R. 50) By preparing, signing, mailing and hand delivering the Answer, William Kidd believed he had

"done everything [he] needed to do to preserve the rights of Limeco Corporation and [himself]."

(Whitaker R. 47 ¶ 6)

In response to the <u>Fletcher</u> Complaint, on February 20, 2004, William Kidd drafted, signed and served the Answer on behalf of Limeco. (Fletcher R. 28) William Kidd hand delivered and mailed the Answer to Mr. Fletcher's former counsel. (Fletcher R. 26 ¶ 5) The Answer, captioned "Answer," stated in paragraph form whether the Defendant admitted or denied the allegations of the Complaint. (Fletcher R. 28-29) At the conclusion of the Answer, the Defendant stated that it "jointly and severally den[ied] validity and overall substance of Plaintiff's claim and ask[s] that the Summons and Complaint be dismissed." (Fletcher R. 29) Nowhere in the Answer to the <u>Fletcher</u> Complaint did Limeco assert any objection to process or service of process. (Fletcher R. 28-29) William Kidd signed the Complaint on behalf of himself and as managing director of Limeco. (Fletcher R. 28-29) In serving the Answers, William Kidd "believed that after [he] mailed and hand delivered the Answers to attorney Sparks [he] had done everything [he] needed to do to preserve the rights of Limeco Corporation." (Fletcher R. 26 ¶ 6)

Although William Kidd, Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd and Limeco served Answers to the Complaints, on February 20, 2004, the Plaintiffs' former counsel moved for Default Judgment. (Fletcher R. 9; T-REX R. 8; Whitaker R. 19) The Motions for Default Judgment were supported by an Affidavit stating that no answer to the Complaint had been filed or served. (Fletcher R. 11 ¶ 4; T-REX R. 9 ¶ 4; Whitaker R. 20 ¶ 4) The respective trial courts entered Default Judgments against the Defendants. (Fletcher R. 12; T-REX R. 11; Whitaker R. 22)

Subsequently, T-REX, Mr. Fletcher and Mr. Whitaker engaged new counsel to pursue the judgment against the Defendants in Alabama. Upon receiving the Notice of the Filing of a Foreign Judgment, William Kidd, Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd and Limeco moved to set aside the Default Judgments against them. (Fletcher R. 14; T-REX R. 13; Whitaker R. 24) Recognizing

the Default Judgments had been entered erroneously, the parties submitted an Agreed Order stating that the Default Judgments would be set aside and stating the Defendants would file a responsive pleading within thirty days. (Fletcher R. 55; T-REX R. 52; Whitaker R. 76)

Following entry of the Agreed Orders, William Kidd, Brett Kidd, Jamie Kidd and Limeco, in their respective cases, filed second Answers and for the first time asserted insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process as affirmative defenses. (Fletcher R. 59; T-REX R. 56-60; Whitaker R. 80, 86) Several days later, the Defendants moved to dismiss each of the cases on the basis of these defenses. (Fletcher R. 63; T-REX R. 64; Whitaker R. 93) The Plaintiffs opposed all three Motions to Dismiss asserting that any objection to process or service of process had been waived through service of the Answers and that process on Limeco in the <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases was proper. (Fletcher R. 63; T-REX R. 66; Whitaker R. 93) Ultimately, Judge Funderburk dismissed the <u>T-REX</u> case and Judge Aycock dismissed the <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases without prejudice, in each case finding that process and service of process were improper; that service had not been accomplished within 120 days of the filing of the Complaint as required by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d); and that no waiver of the insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process defenses occurred. (Fletcher R. 303; T-REX R. 295; Whitaker R. 395)⁵

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the trial courts' orders dismissing the <u>T-REX</u>, <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases should be reversed. First, in the <u>Whitaker</u> and <u>Fletcher</u> cases, process was proper as to Limeco. Second, in all three cases, the Defendants waived the process

⁵ While the trial courts dismissed the three cases without prejudice, the Plaintiffs fully expect the Defendants will argue in any subsequent litigation that the filing of the Complaints without perfection of service of process did not toll the statute of limitations and that the claims are, accordingly, barred by the statute of limitations.

and service of process defenses when the Defendants failed to assert these defenses in their first responsive pleadings, the served Answers. The Defendants' delay of almost three years in asserting any objection to process or service of process waived these defenses.

The plain language of Rule 12(h)(1) demonstrates that a waiver of these defenses occurs when the defendant fails to include the defenses in his responsive pleading. Here, the Defendants failed to assert insufficient process and insufficient service of process when they made a responsive pleading through the service of the Answers. Under Rule 12(h), the Defendants' failure to <u>file</u> the Answers is irrelevant to a determination of whether a waiver occurred.

Even if no waiver occurred through the Defendants' failure to raise the defenses in the served Answers, the Answers themselves evidence an intent to defend the cases and, accordingly, constitute a general appearance. This general appearance, coupled with the passage of time in which the Defendants failed to assert their defenses, constitutes a waiver of the affirmative defenses. Because the Defendants waived any defense based on insufficiency of process or insufficiency of service of process, the trial courts erred in dismissing the Complaints because service was not accomplished within 120 days of the filling of the Complaints.

In short, the Defendants served Answers and relied on service of the Answers in seeking to have the Default Judgments set aside. There is no dispute that the Defendants knew about the three cases and intended to defend the cases on the merits, as evidenced by service of the Answers. The Defendants raised no objection to process or service of process for almost three years. Having served and relied on the Answers in having the Default Judgments set aside, the Defendants then sought to disclaim the waiver of affirmative defenses which occurred when the Defendants failed to include insufficiency of process and service of process as defenses in their first responsive pleadings, the served Answers. The Defendants should not be allowed to enjoy

the benefit accruing from service of the Answers in avoiding the Default Judgment while simultaneously avoiding the waiver arising from the failure to include the affirmative defenses in their served Answers as is required by Rule 12(h)(1).

For all these reasons, as set forth further below, the Plaintiffs request that the Orders dismissing the <u>T-REX</u>, <u>Whitaker</u> and <u>Fletcher</u> Complaints be reversed and that the cases be remanded to the trial courts for disposition on the merits.

ARGUMENT

1. <u>Process and service of process were proper as to Limeco in the Fletcher and Whitaker cases.</u>

Process on Limeco was proper in the <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases because the Summonses substantially complied with Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(b). Rule 4(b) establishes the form of a summons required for service upon a defendant. Specifically, Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(b) provides as follows:

The summons shall be dated and signed by the clerk, be under the seal of the court, contain the name of the court and the names of the parties, be directed to the defendant, state the name and address of the plaintiff's attorney, if any, list the plaintiff's address and the time within which these rules require the defendant to appear and defend and shall notify him that in case of his failure to do so judgment by default will be rendered against him for relief demanded in the complaint.... Summons served by process server shall substantially conform to Form 1A.

Summons Form 1A states that "[y]ou must also file the original of your response with the Clerk of this Court within a reasonable time afterward." In these cases, because the Plaintiffs' former counsel used language from a Rule 81 Summons, the Summons served stated "[y]ou are not required to file an answer or other pleading but you may do so if you desire." (Fletcher R. 73; T-REX R. 23-24; Whitaker R. 45) This statement represents the only deviation from Summons Form 1A in the Summons served on Limeco in the <u>Fletcher</u> and <u>Whitaker</u> cases. All of the elements required by Rule 4(b) appear in the Summonses used.

In spite of this deviation, however, the Summonses were dated and signed by the clerk. The Summonses were under the seal of court. The Summonses stated the names of the parties. The Summonses stated the Plaintiffs' address. The Summonses stated the time within which the Rules required the defendant to appear and defend. The Summonses stated that in the case of the Defendant's failure to appear and defend judgment by default would be rendered against him. Accordingly, the Summonses substantially complied with Summons Form 1A. The Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the trial court erred in dismissing the Fletcher and Whitaker cases against Limeco for insufficient process.

2. The Defendants waived any objection to process or service of process by serving Answers to the Complaints without asserting these defenses.

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