IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MONTY FLETCHER

APPELLANT

V.

Case No.: 2007-CA-01247

LIMECO CORPORATION

APPELLEE

Consolidated with

R. W. WHITAKER

APPELLANT

V.

Case No.: 2007-CA-01249

LIMECO CORPORATION AND WILLIAM KIDD

APPELLEE

T-REX 2000, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

Case No.: 2007-CA-01262

BRETT KIDD AND JAMIE KIDD

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

---

APPELLEES' BRIEF

---

L. F. Sams, Jr., [REDACTED]  
Margaret Sams Gratz, [REDACTED]  
MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A.  
105 South Front Street  
P.O. Box 7120  
Tupelo, MS 38802-7120  
(662) 842-3871

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES  
LIMECO CORPORATION, WILLIAM KIDD,

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

Trustees of Central Laborers'. See Trustees of Central Laborers',  
924 F.2d at 733. In Broadcast Music, the Court stated:

[The Defendants] never filed a pleading in the case prior to the entry of default judgment. Therefore, it cannot be said that they failed to raise the defense, as required by Rule 12(h). However, a party need not necessarily file an answer in federal court to put in an appearance for purposes of Rule 12(h).

811 F.2d at 281. In Broadcast Music, the Court held that because counsel for the corporation appeared before the Court at a pretrial conference on behalf of both corporate and individual defendants, negotiated settlement on behalf of all defendants, moved to withdraw as counsel for all defendants, and was served motions, subpoenas, etc. for all defendants, the individual defendants had waived any defect related to personal jurisdiction. This holding is consistent with Dynasteel, discussed supra, which stated that, except in the context of Rule 55, appearances traditionally require either filing of documents or appearance before a court. In Broadcast Music, the attorney had appeared in court. Thus, the holdings in Broadcast Music and Trustees of Central Laborers' actually refute Plaintiffs' argument and, instead, support Defendants' position that an appearance for purposes of Rule 12(h) requires that a party file a document or appear before a Court.

## 2. Time Delay Caused by Plaintiffs' Inaction

It is ironic that Plaintiffs argue that the extensive passage of time and inactivity in these cases causes, in effect, the

waiver of the Rule 12(h) defenses for the Defendants when the delay was caused by Plaintiffs' dilatory inaction. Without notice to Defendants, Plaintiffs brought on for hearing their motions for default judgment in March, 2004. By April, 2004, Plaintiffs had obtained default judgments against Defendants and then chose to do nothing for two and one-half years. It was not until September, 2006, that Plaintiffs notified Defendants of the default judgments. Thus, the Defendants should not be punished for the delay caused by Plaintiffs. In any event, this Court has held that a defendant's inaction or failure to timely respond to the complaint, as required by Rule 12(a), has no effect on that defendant's defenses or waiver thereof under Rule 12(h). Rockaway Commuter Line, Inc. v. Denham, 897 So. 2d 156, 159 (Miss. 2004).<sup>12</sup>

C. Construction of Rule 12(h)

Plaintiffs attempt to manipulate rules of statutory construction to convince this Court that Rule 12(h) mandates that the defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process (and the other defenses listed therein) are waived upon

---

<sup>12</sup> Still, Plaintiffs will certainly argue the recent opinion of Estate of John Grimes v. Warrington, 2008 WL 451714 (Miss. Feb. 21, 2008) and the cases cited therein to assert that the passage of time in effect waives Defendants' defenses. However, that too would be a misapplication of the rationale of this Court. Unlike Warrington, Defendants in these cases did not assert defenses and then participate in litigation without bringing these defenses before the Court. On the contrary, Defendants in the cases *sub judice* asserted their defenses in their separate answers and defenses, served motions asserting these defenses within days of serving their answers, and brought these motions on for hearings before the trial courts at the earliest available hearing dates.

service of a document --- even if that document is never filed with the court. This argument not only ignores proper application of the rules of statutory construction, but also ignores prior holdings of this Court. Most recently, in Burleson v. Lathem, this Court stated,

Further, Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(h) requires that a defense of insufficiency of process or insufficiency of service of process made by motion must be filed concurrently with other *initial* motions in a lawsuit or with responsive pleadings. **Once the responsive pleadings have been filed, a party's failure to plead a Rule 4(h) objection by filing a Rule 12(b) (4) or (5) defense constitutes waiver.**

968 So. 2d 930, 934 (Miss. 2007) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

This Court's recognition in Burleson that a motion or responsive pleading must be filed before it has the effect of waiver of a defense is consistent with rules of statutory construction as applied to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiffs argue that because Rule 12(h) does not expressly state that these defenses are waived at the time of filing, then this Court should assume that the defenses are waived at the time the document is served. However, Rule 12(h) does not expressly state that these defenses are waived at the time of service. Consequently, although the rules of statutory construction state that the specific rule governs over the general rule, the reciprocal of that rule requires that when no specific rule exists --- i.e. when Rule 12(h) does not specify whether

certain defenses are waived upon filing or service of a document -  
-- the general rule, or Rule 5(d) in these cases, should be applied.

Plaintiffs also argue that the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure should be construed as a whole. Defendants agree. Rule 4(b), through Form 1A and Form 1AA, requires that a defendant be advised that he must file his responsive pleading with the Court. Form 1D requires that the defendant be advised when and where he must appear in court to defend himself, because he is not required to file a responsive pleading. As discussed supra, filing a paper or actually appearing in court are the methods of appearance whereby a defendant may waive his Rule 12(h) defenses. Additionally, Rule 5(d) requires filing of all papers after the complaint except for discovery papers until those discovery papers are used with respect to any proceeding. Rule 5(e) defines "filing," and "filing" of a paper is not "serving" of a paper. Thus, "filing" as required and defined by Rule 5(d) and (e) is the action that gives a paper or pleading its force or effect. If this were not true, there would be no purpose for Rule 5(d). Additionally, the fact that filing a paper or pleading is what gives it force or effect is indicative of why Form 1A and Form 1AA require that a defendant be advised that he must file his responsive pleading with the court and why Form 1D does not require filing of a responsive pleading. A defendant in a Rule 81

matter (utilizing Form 1D) will appear in court to defend himself, while a defendant in a Rule 4 matter (utilizing Form 1A or Form 1AA) will appear through filing his responsive pleading. Accordingly, construing the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure as a whole, a defendant does not waive his Rule 12(h) defenses until he files his responsive pleading without answering such defenses.

D. Defendants Have Never Relied On The Un-filed Answer in Seeking to Set Aside Default Judgment.

Plaintiffs mischaracterize Defendants' position when they assert that Defendants relied on the service of their answers in seeking to have the default judgments set aside. As explained in Defendants' motions to set aside default judgments (which were later agreed upon by counsel), the default judgments should have been set aside because the judgments were void due to the insufficient and erroneous process. Defendants alternatively argued that the default judgments should be set aside for good cause shown because Defendants should have received notice of the hearings on default judgments since they had served Plaintiffs with an answer.

Clearly, the judgment entered against Defendant is void under Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure because the process was insufficient, specifically the Summons instructed Defendant that only the attorney of record should be served and that filing with the Clerk of the Court was not required. Additionally, because Plaintiff's counsel had been served with the Answer, he should have given Defendant notice of the application for judgment. Defendant was

given no notice of the Motion for Default Judgment. Thus, the Court may also set aside the entry of default for good cause shown.

Fletcher R. 16; Whitaker R. 26; T-Rex R. 15. This argument made by Defendants in support of their motion to set aside default judgment is consistent with Rule 55(b) and the cases requiring notice of the application for judgment at least three days prior to the hearing. See Miss. R. Civ. P. 55(b); See also King v. Sigrest, 641 So. 2d 1158 (Miss. 1994); Segars v. Hagerman, 99 F.R.D. 274 (N.D. Miss. 1983); Dalminter, Inc. v. Jessie Edwards, Inc., 27 F.R.D. 491 (S.D. Tex. 1961).

Defendants have stated that they did not file the answers due to the language of the defective summons. However, Defendants have never argued that the default judgments should be set aside simply because they served, though never filed, an answer. This argument would not hold water under Rule 5(d), as explained supra, because an un-filed answer has no force or effect. In the separate answers and defenses that were served *and filed* in December, 2006, Defendants asserted the defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process and raised these defenses as grounds for dismissal in their motions to dismiss. Accordingly, the defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process have never been waived by these Defendants.

**V. AGREED ORDER ALLOWED FILING OF RESPONSIVE PLEADING**

At the trial court level, Plaintiffs argued that "[Defendants] cannot file purported "Separate Answers and Defenses" without seeking leave of Court to amend and raise defenses they failed to raise in the original Answer served" in February 2004. Fletcher R. 167; Whitaker R. 222; T-Rex R. 174. As previously stated, the answers served in February 2004 are of no effect because they were never filed. The trial courts' rulings on Defendants' motions to dismiss did not consider the effect of the agreed orders setting aside default judgments and allowing Defendants to file their responsive pleadings or Rules 12(h) or 15(a) because the Court held that the defenses were never waived to begin with --- because the February 2004 answers were never filed. Nevertheless, Defendants respond to Plaintiffs' arguments on this issue.

Assuming *arguendo* that the un-filed answers were effective to constitute an appearance under Rule 12(h) (which Defendants deny they were), then when Plaintiffs agreed to an order allowing Defendants to file a responsive pleading, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(a), and the trial courts entered an order allowing such filings, then the responsive pleadings that were filed --- the separate answers and defenses filed by each respective defendant -- replaced the original answers that were never filed. Accordingly, the defenses asserted in the separate answers and defenses filed in December 2006 are now in force and in effect.

See Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(h) and 15(a).<sup>13</sup> See also Scaife v. Scaife,  
880 So. 2d 1089, 1094 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (stating,

It is correct that [Defendant] *filed* a written answer. However, with leave of court [Defendant] filed an amended answer, which contested jurisdiction. Pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 12(h)(1) and 15(a), the amended answer, with its contest of jurisdiction, related back to the filing date of the original answer...) (emphasis added).<sup>14</sup>

A. Discussions Related to Agreed Order  
and Language of Agreed Order

In regard to the parties' agreement to set aside the default judgment, Plaintiffs mischaracterize the record. First, the agreement by counsel was not a "generous agreement," nor was Plaintiffs' counsel granting any favors. It was apparent from Defendants' motions to set aside default judgment that Defendants would be successful on those motions (for the same reasons they were successful on the motions to dismiss --- process and service of process were insufficient, and thus the default judgments were void). There was never an agreement between counsel for these parties that by Plaintiffs' agreeing to set aside the default judgments, Defendants would waive any defenses or that Defendants intended to file the answer that had been served by Defendants in February, 2004. Moreover, it was expressly discussed that by such agreement, Defendants expressly did not waive any defenses nor did

---

<sup>13</sup> Rule 15(a) states that a party may amend a pleading "by leave of court or upon written consent of the adverse party.."

<sup>14</sup> It should be noted that even the Court's language in Scaife emphasizes that it is the filing of an answer that gives it its effect.

Defendants intend to file the February, 2004 answer. Fletcher R. 235; Whitaker R. 320; T-Rex R. 244.

The records of the trial courts reflect an *Agreed Order* signed by counsel for the parties, submitted to the trial courts for consideration, and signed and entered by the trial courts. The *Agreed Orders* state:

By agreement of the parties the judgment rendered on April 1, 2004, is hereby set aside. Defendants shall have thirty days from this date in which to file a responsive pleading.

Fletcher R. 55; Whitaker R. 76; T-Rex R. 52. The *Agreed Orders* granted Defendants thirty days in which to file their "responsive pleading[s]." The term "responsive pleading" itself indicates the parties' understanding that the Defendants would not be limited to the un-filed answer served in 2004. Moreover, if, by some unknown phenomena, Plaintiffs honestly understood the agreement to be that Defendants would waive all defenses and simply file the answer that had been served in February 2004, the *Agreed Order* should have stated such. Clearly, there was no agreement that Defendants would waive any defense or that Defendants would or even intended to file the answer served in February 2004.

B. Effect of Agreed Order

Plaintiffs argue that under Rule 15(a), a defendant cannot amend his answer to include a Rule 12(h) defense after thirty days of serving his original responsive pleading. In support of their argument, Plaintiffs cite Ellibee v. Leonard, 226 Fed. Appx. 351

(5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007), but Ellibee is distinguishable from this case because the defendant in Ellibee had filed its responsive pleading and failed therein to assert its Rule 12(b) defense. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs argue that under Rules 12(h) and 15(a), as interpreted by Ellibee v. Leonard, a federal prisoner *pro se* case, and Wright & Miller, a defendant's answer can only be amended to add any of the four defenses listed in Rule 12(h)<sup>15</sup> when said amendment is made within thirty days of the service of the answer, even if that answer was never filed. If Ellibee were consistent with Mississippi case law, it might be persuasive or even authoritative. However, Plaintiffs' argument under Ellibee is simply not consistent with Mississippi law.

In the recent case of Burleson v. Latham (that Plaintiffs attempt to distinguish), this Court stated,

[Defendant] did not assert deficient service of process as an affirmative defense in the answer filed on October 15, 2002. Based on Rule 15(a), [Defendant] had thirty days from the service of his answer to submit any amendments without leave of court. The comment to Rule 15(a) notes that, unlike the federal rules, the Mississippi rules do not limit the number of times a party may amend as a matter of course. Thus, [Defendant] had the entire thirty days to amend his pleading as often as he deemed necessary; however, [Defendant] chose not to amend at all. **Once this thirty-day time period expired, [Defendant], pursuant to Rule 15(a), needed leave of the court or written consent of opposing counsel in order to amend his answer.**

---

<sup>15</sup> The defenses listed in Rule 12(h) are lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process.

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